
24 Part 3/1

THIRD PART

Special sitting to examine developments concerning the question of the observance
by the Government of Myanmar of the Forced Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29)

A. Record of the discussion in the Committee on the Application of Standards  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

B. Observation of the Committee of Experts on the Application of Conventions and Recommendations on
the observance of the Forced Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29) by Myanmar  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

Documents D.5, D.5 (Add.) and D.5 (Add.2)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14

C. Brief summary of developments since June 2003  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14

D. Latest developments since the 289th Session of the Governing Body (March 2004)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16

Appendices:

Letter dated 25 May 2004 from the Liaison Officer a.i. to the Myanmar Minister for Labour  . . . . . . . . . 22

Letter dated 2 June 2004 from the Director-General to the Myanmar Minister for Labour  . . . . . . . . . . 25

Letter dated 3 June 2004 from the Permanent Representative of Myanmar to the Director-General  . . 26

Document D.6  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

E. Developments concerning the question of the observance by the Government of Myanmar of the For-
ced Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

1. Document GB.288/5  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

2. Document GB.288/5/1  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37

3. Document GB.289/8  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46

4. Documents GB.289/8/1 and GB.289/8/2  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53

CONTENTS

Page

International Labour Conference

Provisional Record PART

Ninety-second Session, Geneva, 2004 THREE

24



24 Part 3/2

A. RECORD OF THE DISCUSSION IN THE COMMITTEE ON THE APPLICATION OF STANDARDS

A Government representative of Myanmar informed the Com-
mittee that the Supreme Court of the Union of Myanmar had re-
vised and commuted the death sentences on the three individuals as
follows: (1) the sentence on Shwe Mann (a) Zeyar Oo had been
commuted to transportation for life under section 122(1) of the
Myanmar Penal Code; (2) the sentence on Min Kyi (a) Naing Min
Kyi had been commuted to three years’ imprisonment under sec-
tion 123 of the Myanmar Penal Code; and (3) the sentence on Aye
Myint (a) Myint Aye Maung had been commuted to three years’ im-
prisonment under section 123 of the Myanmar Penal Code. It should
be noted that not only those three individuals but also the remaining
six persons had received commutations of their sentences. Out of the
nine individuals, four received commutations to three years’ impri-
sonment and five received commutations to transportation for life.
He recalled the content of his letter dated 3 June 2004, addressed to
the Director-General of the International Labour Office, which had
been distributed in document C. App/D.5(Add 2).

With regard to the Facilitator, the speaker said that, although
the joint Plan of Action was not yet in force, the Myanmar authori-
ties, on their part, were already implementing it in good faith. For
instance, the Myanmar authorities had recognized the Facilitator
designated by the ILO, as provided for in the joint Plan of Action,
and had been cooperating with him in the performance of his
duties. In this context, it is also relevant to note paragraph 10 of the
report (GB.289/8/1) of the Special Adviser to the ILO Director-
General who visited Myanmar from 3 to 8 March 2004. The mecha-
nism of the Facilitator was a new concept. The terms of reference
for the Facilitator had been clearly set out in the joint Plan of
Action and the mechanism was already functioning effectively.

The speaker then referred to other measures taken by his
Government. These included field observation teams. The seven
field observation teams (FOT), headed by the Directors-General
and heads of departments under the Ministry of Labour, continued
to undertake field observation trips to various parts of the country.
These teams oversaw the implementation measures in the field and
carried out investigations into the allegations of the use of forced
labour whenever they occurred. Their findings were submitted to
the Convention No. 29 Implementation Committee for appropriate
and necessary actions. The Ministry of Labour, under close supervi-
sion of the Convention No. 29 Implementation Committee and in
collaboration with the ILO Liaison Officer a.i., compiled these fin-
dings and actions and submitted them to the Director-General of
the ILO and the Committee of Experts on a regular basis. He also
noted that the ILO Liaison Officer a.i. was enjoying freedom of
movement in the country. The ILO Liaison Officer a.i. travelled
through the length and breadth of Myanmar including remote areas
such as the Chin Hills, Kachin State and Kayah State.

The speaker also pointed to the holding of a workshop on the
implementation of Convention No. 29. A total of 120 participants
in the workshop included: responsible officials from the peace and
development councils at the division, district, township and village
tract levels; high officials from various government departments;
and representatives from NGOs. The subjects discussed included,
inter alia: cooperation between Myanmar and the ILO; Order
No. 1/99 and the Order Supplementing Order No. 1/99; Criminal
Procedure Code; rights of Myanmar nationals; the role of the police
force in the eradication of forced labour; and complaints within the
region. The workshop proved to be very useful. There were plans to
organize more similar workshops and seminars.

The Myanmar judiciary and the ministries and departments con-
cerned were also taking necessary enforcement measures and legal
actions whenever there appear prima facie cases with sufficient evi-
dence. One significant development was the legal proceedings
under section 374 of the Myanmar Penal Code in respect of two
defendants for their alleged use of forced labour in Htanmanaing
Village, Kawhmu township. In the past, a number of representati-
ves, including the Worker members, insisted on the need to invoke
section 374 of the Myanmar Penal Code. This was the first case pro-
secuted under section 374. Necessary actions were also being taken
against those found guilty of infringing Order No 1/99 and the
Order Supplementing Order No. 1/99.

The speaker then turned to Myanmar’s observance of Conven-
tion No. 87. He noted that the National Convention, which had
been entrusted with the drafting of a new state Constitution, was
currently in session. He concluded by stating that the aforemen-
tioned measures bore testimony to the determination, dedication
and commitment of the Myanmar authorities to the eradication of
forced labour in the country. He wished to make it clear, once again,
that no linkage between the ILO issue and politics or the internal
situation in the country could be accepted.

The Worker members stated that yet another special session on
the Forced Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29), was being devoted
to addressing the issue of forced labour in Myanmar. Several years
ago, the Commission of Inquiry had already made the following
specific recommendations to the Government: (a) to modify the
laws relating to forced labour; (b) to terminate forced labour practi-
ces, particularly those imposed by the military; and (c) to apply ef-
fective criminal sanctions in cases of forced labour. The Committee
of Experts had noted that the laws dating from 1907 were never
modified, as recommended by the Commission of Inquiry. In this
regard, the Government continued to claim that the Orders of 1999
had amended the laws in question. Then, why not modify the laws
of 1907 themselves if the Government had already indicated that
these laws were no longer applicable? Concerning the second
recommendation of the Commission of Inquiry, the Government
had not undertaken any of the four types of measures which were
requested with a view to terminating forced labour practices.
Hence the Government had not provided the relevant copies of the
concrete specific instructions addressed to local authorities and the
military; nor had the Government provided any definitions of
forced labour or indicated how work in the country could be carried
out otherwise than through forced labour. Apparently, no instruc-
tions had been provided to the military and nothing showed that the
translation of the instructions in the local languages had been effec-
tively disseminated. Moreover, if budgetary allocations had been
made, they had not been used to envisage the carrying out of the
necessary work in the country through other means. Strangely
enough, all the investigations carried out by Convention No. 29
Implementation Committee had led nowhere. Concerning the third
recommendation, it was observed that no sanctions had been im-
posed against the perpetrators of forced labour practices even whe-
re a complaint was lodged for the first time before a judiciary body.
They concluded that the situation of Myanmar continued to be
extremely serious and worrying particularly in the periphery and
ethnic parts of the country where there was a strong military pres-
ence. Hence the overall situation was very depressing and affected
a significant number of people. The Worker members emphasized
the importance of continuing the Committee discussion in addition
to the Governing Body discussion that had tended to focus more on
procedural matters rather than substance until substantial progress
could be demonstrated toward the complete elimination of forced
labour in Burma.

This was the fourth year in a row that this case was discussed in a
special session in accordance with the ILC resolution under arti-
cle 33 of the ILO Constitution. Last year, the discussion of the then
recently concluded agreement on a Plan of Action was coloured by
the attack on Aung San Suu Kyi by forces associated with the mili-
tary regime only days before the International Labour Conference
began. Scores of her supporters were massacred, Daw Suu and
many of her supporters were arrested and remained in detention to
date, and all activities of the National League for Democracy
(NLD) were suspended. Since the climate of fear and repression
resulting from the massacre raised substantial concerns about the
ability to implement the newly agreed Plan of Action, especially the
work of the Facilitator that depended on the confidence of victims
of forced labour to come to him as well as the Liaison Officer
without fear of reprisal from the regime, this Committee concluded
that it was not possible to begin implementation of the Plan of
Action at that time. The Governing Body reviewed the situation
not only at its November session but also once again at its session in
March. On both occasions the Governing Body decided that the
climate inside the country was not conducive for the implementa-
tion of the Plan of Action.

The Worker members recalled that the Governing Body in
March asked this Committee to review developments under the cir-
cumstances and that the conclusions reached by the Governing
Body “are of course without prejudice to the views expressed by
some that the lack of substantive progress would call for reactiva-
tion of the review of relations between the ILO constituents and
Myanmar under article 33 of the Constitution”. The Governing
Body in March expressed three fundamental concerns about the
sentencing to death of nine persons for high treason, in particular
Shwe Mahn, Naing Min Kyi and Aye Myint. It should be emphas-
ized that the Facilitator designated by the ILO was of the opinion
that “the matter had not been dealt with in accordance with an ap-
propriate and credible procedure, and that the charge of high
treason was unfounded and needed to be reviewed”. The first con-
cern expressed by the Governing Body in March was that contacts
or exchange of information with the ILO could in any way have
judicial consequences in Burma. The second concern focused on



24 Part 3/3

whether contacts with “third parties” on matters of concern to the
ILO could similarly be punished. And the third concern raised the
issue as to whether, in light of the court decision, the Plan of Action
and more specifically the Facilitator mechanism could be credibly
implemented.

The Committee took note of two letters that had been sent to
the Minister of Labour since the March session of the Governing
Body – one from the Liaison Officer and one from the ILO Direc-
tor-General himself. These letters could be found in document D.5.
There was also the letter sent by the Ambassador only a couple of
days ago that appeared to be in response to the Director-General’s
letter of 2 June. In this letter, the Ambassador indicated: firstly, that
the three defendants somehow had the right for a second appeal to
the Supreme Court; secondly, that the lower court inadvertently
and incorrectly made reference to the ILO in its original decision;
and, thirdly, that under no circumstances did contact or cooperation
with the ILO constitute an offence under existing law. They also
recalled that this year’s discussion was taking place under a similar
pall as last year’s discussion. Aung San Suu Kyi remained under
house arrest and was virtually incommunicado. None other than
the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights in Burma/Myanmar,
who had been refused a visa to enter the country, had called the
Constitutional National Convention now taking place at a secure
location outside Rangoon “an enormous effort for a meaningless
and undemocratic exercise”. He had accused the Government of
condemning the carefully selected 1,088 people attending the con-
vention to house arrest and publicly stated that the democratic tran-
sition would be impossible unless Myanmar’s generals eased curbs
on free, open discussion at the convention. The ethnic groups
agreeing to a ceasefire participating in the convention were already
making demands about fundamental changes in the documents
drafted nearly a decade ago and now being dusted off for this Natio-
nal Convention or they would walk out.

The Worker members stated that the spirit of cooperation con-
tained in the Government representative’s remarks stood in stark
contrast to what was happening inside Burma today which could
only be described as a victory by those inside the military most re-
sistant to reform of any kind. To the ILO the face of the Govern-
ment was a civilian diplomat, but to the Burmese people the face of
the regime was the soldier with his gun. In view of the above, they
turned to four points in reaction to recent developments. First, the
Worker members fully supported the view expressed by the Facili-
tator designated by the ILO that the convictions of Shwe Mahn,
Naing Min Kyi and Aye Myint were unfounded. Their only alleged
crime appeared to be their association with pro-democracy groups
opposed to the regime, particularly the Federation of Trade Unions
of Burma. On account of this association, they had been labelled
terrorists and convicted of high treason. While they were relieved
that the sentences for Naing Min Kyi and Aye Myint had been re-
duced, they demanded the immediate release of all three. They fur-
ther demanded the release of the other six defendants, five of whom
continued to face prison sentences. They hoped that this second re-
view by the Supreme Court was completed in due haste and the
defendants were exonerated. Second, regarding the matter of
whether contact and cooperation with the ILO constituted a crime
in Burma, the Government representative’s assurances contained
in his letter of 4 June, whilst appreciated, were insufficient. They
hoped that any second judgement by the Supreme Court would
make it absolutely clear that contact with the ILO was not a crime
and should in fact be encouraged. This had to be clearly communi-
cated throughout the country in all the appropriate languages.
Third, clarity also needed to be brought to the issue of contact with
third parties on matters of concern to the ILO. Court decisions
made it clear that what was meant by third party is the Federation
of Trade Unions of Burma and its Secretary-General, Mr. Maung
Maung, who had addressed the Committee earlier and who had
been convicted in absentia of high treason. Without such clarity, the
implementation of the Plan of Action, especially the work of the
Facilitator, would be fundamentally compromised.

Given the current political climate inside the country, the Wor-
ker members did not believe that the Plan of Action could be effec-
tively implemented at present. The speaker emphasized that the
Worker members had reacted positively toward the Plan of Action,
especially the facilitator framework, both in this Committee last
year and in the Governing Body. They looked forward to the day
when the climate existed for the Plan of Action to be tested to de-
termine the degree to which it actually contributed to the elimina-
tion of forced labour in Burma. In this regard, they noted with inte-
rest the information provided in document D.5 concerning the
activities of the Liaison Officer, specifically the fact that he had re-
ceived 40 complaints thus far in 2004. They deplored the fact that
the regime had admitted that only three of the 40 were the victims
of forced labour and it did not appear that any action had been ta-
ken by the authorities to date. Nonetheless, they saw value in the
work of the Liaison Officer and would be open to exploring ways to

expand and make more effective such work if the circumstances
emerged for such a consideration.

The Worker members recalled that the Commission of Inquiry
report had noted that “all the information and evidence before the
Commission shows the utter disregard by the authorities for the sa-
fety and health as well as the basic needs of the people performing
forced or compulsory labour ... Forced labourers, including those
sick or injured, are frequently beaten or otherwise physically
abused by soldiers, resulting in serious injuries, some are killed, and
women performing compulsory labour are raped or otherwise
sexually abused by soldiers ...”. The Worker members were com-
pelled to emphasize that, despite the ongoing engagement between
the Office and the Government, very little had improved concer-
ning the widespread use of forced labour, particularly by the mili-
tary, and on infrastructure projects. Confirmation of this was con-
tained in the Experts’ comments once again this year and supported
by the continual flow of information coming out of Burma. Unless
significant progress was made in the next couple of months toward
the implementation of all three Commission of Inquiry recommen-
dations, the Governing Body would have no choice but to direct the
Director-General to strengthen his call under article 33 of the Con-
stitution that all of the ILO’s constituents should review their rela-
tions with Myanmar to ensure that such relations did not perpetua-
te or extend the system of forced or compulsory labour in that
country.

The Employer members stated that the Government of
Myanmar still refused to comply with obligations they had volunt-
arily accepted under international law. This increasing isolation was
detrimental to their economy and their people and, if it continued,
would lead to contempt by the international community. It was too
early, however, for resignation. The Employer members recalled
that the Committee’s mandate was to examine the measures taken
to implement the resolution adopted by the Conference in 2000
which, for its part, was based on the Committee of Experts’ obser-
vation of 1998. They observed that there were still massive viola-
tions of Convention No. 29. The legal basis for these violations, the
Village Act and the Towns Act, continued to be in force. The aboli-
tion of forced labour would only be possible if the Government was
prepared to act. While the Government representative in his state-
ment had indicated a willingness to act, documents D.5 and D.6 had
shown that little progress was evident at all. They turned to specific
issues regarding forced labour in the country. They noted that ins-
tructions issued by the military authorities banning forced labour
needed to be disseminated and translated into local languages. The
aforementioned Acts allowing forced labour needed to be abroga-
ted. Furthermore, the pamphlet on forced labour mentioned in pa-
ragraph 14 of the Committee of Experts’ observation still had to be
drafted. Financial resources for development were also necessary
to ensure the abolition of forced labour, since many projects depen-
ded on forced labour for their completion. Finally, he noted that
sanctions for the use of forced labour existed only on paper and that
no information had been received on their application in practice.

The Employer members noted the long history of this case and
recalled the various missions that had led to the appointment of a
Liaison Officer in Myanmar in May 2002. The Government only
reacted slowly and under pressure. In spite of this, it was not even
possible for the Liaison Officer to effectively examine allegations of
forced labour brought to his attention, as indicated in docu-
ment D.5. They further noted that new information had revealed
that forced labour was also a problem in border regions and was
practised in the context of military service. More specifically, there
were allegations that young persons under the age of 18 years were
being recruited for compulsory military training. They noted that,
when the Government replied to such allegations, such responses
were always received just before the Conference. Referring to the
Plan of Action of May 2003, they noted that an independent facili-
tator was supposed to carry out duties mentioned in paragraphs 38-
45 of this year’s observation by the Committee of Experts. The
commencement of the Plan of Action should be determined by the
Director-General. Until now nothing had happened. They further
noted that, in March 2004, the Governing Body had concluded that
the conditions in Myanmar were not sufficiently convincing to pro-
ceed with the implementation of the Plan of Action.

The Employer members noted that there were some positive
developments. The Liaison Officer had received a considerable
number of complaints regarding forced labour, which he had trans-
mitted to the Convention No. 29 Implementation Committee for
investigation and action. These cases concerned, inter alia, instan-
ces of forced recruitment of persons under the age of 18 into the
military service. Most of these cases had not yet been investigated.
The Employer members drew special attention to the cases of nine
persons sentenced to death for high treason, including three per-
sons whose convictions were related to their contacts with the ILO.
These sentences gave rise to the suspicion that contacts with third
parties on matters of concern to the ILO constituted a basis for



24 Part 3/4

punishment. This had been confirmed by the letter of the Ambassa-
dor of Myanmar of 3 June 2004 addressed to the Director-General,
in which the Ambassador referred to the judgement of 28 Novem-
ber 2003 and had indicated that contact and cooperation by a
Myanmar citizen with the ILO did not constitute an offence under
national law.

The Employer members concluded that the preliminary summa-
ry of this case gave rise to deep concern. The Plan of Action envis-
aged one year ago had not yet been implemented. Although the
latter contained only some measures which would lead to a radical
change of the situation, it would be a start. The implementation of
the Plan of Action was also required in order to render the contacts
between the ILO and the Government meaningful. More effective
measures needed to be taken now. They further expressed their
hope that the Government would not provide the latest informa-
tion on developments only just before the beginning of the Confer-
ence.

The Government member of Indonesia, speaking on behalf of
the ASEAN countries, expressed his appreciation to the Director-
General of the ILO for his continuing support and cooperation with
the Government of Myanmar in its efforts to eliminate the practice
of forced labour in the country. He also acknowledged the role
played by the ILO Liaison Officer a.i. in Myanmar, in assisting the
Myanmar authorities in the observance of ILO Convention No. 29.
His delegation welcomed the commitment of the Government of
Myanmar to observing ILO Convention No. 29, and to eliminating
the practice of forced labour in the country. He noted the agree-
ment reached between the Myanmar Government and the ILO on
27 May 2003 on the joint Plan of Action and urged both sides to
jointly implement it as soon as possible. In this connection, he wel-
comed the visit of the ILO Mission to Myanmar from 4 to 6 March
2004, led by the Special Adviser to the ILO Director-General.
Myanmar and the ILO should proceed to implement the joint Plan
of Action and continue their cooperation. He believed that a coo-
perative approach would enable the International Labour Confer-
ence to play a constructive role in this respect, and encouraged the
Government of the Union of Myanmar and the ILO to continue
amicable cooperation until the issue was completely resolved.

The Government member of Ireland spoke on behalf of the
European Union. She indicated that the candidate countries Bulga-
ria, Romania and Turkey and the countries of the Stabilization and
Association Process and potential EU candidates Albania, Bosnia
and Herzegovina, Croatia, The former Yugoslav Republic of Mace-
donia, Serbia and Montenegro and the EFTA countries Iceland,
Norway and Switzerland, had aligned themselves with her state-
ment. The European Union (EU) wished to underline its support
for and appreciation of the work of the International Labour Office
and that of its former and current liaison officers in their work on
forced labour in Burma/Myanmar. The speaker recalled that, in
March, the Governing Body had concluded that while positive de-
velopments had occurred since November 2003, the court judge-
ment against certain persons in relation to contacts or exchange of
information with the ILO had undermined the credibility and pros-
pects for future cooperation. Three separate concerns were identi-
fied in the Conclusions. The Office was to examine this question
more thoroughly in light of the results of the review of the recent
cases and any further assurances provided by the Government. It
was to report on the results of this examination to the Officers of
the Governing Body, with the proviso that the results should be
found sufficiently convincing before proceeding to the implementa-
tion of the Plan of Action. The speaker said that the EU did not find
the additional information provided sufficiently convincing to per-
mit implementation of the Plan of Action.

The European Union was gravely concerned that the three per-
sons whose conviction had an ILO connection continued to be im-
prisoned, one for a sentence equivalent to a term of life imprison-
ment. She was further concerned that they had not been granted
access to their defence lawyer. It was now learned that they had
been granted a second appeal, but that appeal should lead, at the
very least, to a satisfactory outcome in the terms expressed in their
letters by both the Director-General and the Ambassador of Bur-
ma/Myanmar. Only then could further steps be considered, be they
positive or, if the results were disappointing, a further utilization of
measures to ensure the respect of Convention No. 29 by Burma/
Myanmar. The EU noted that the ILO Liaison Officer a.i. had con-
tinued with his activities, including discussions with the Minister for
Labour and the Director-General of his department, and that he
was able to travel to Chin State in a visit conducted independently
of the authorities. The EU acknowledged that the ILO Liaison Of-
ficer a.i. was able to travel to all areas that he wished without any
restrictions or escort, and was able to meet freely with a range of
persons, as well as with members of the Chin State Peace and Deve-
lopment Council, including its secretary. However, she noted that,
despite the increasing number of allegations received by the ILO
Liaison Officer a.i., none brought to the attention of the Conven-

tion No. 29 Implementation Committee had been found by the
Committee to be justified. The EU was concerned that the Com-
mittee had not found any cases of forced labour, since there was
evidence of cases thereof. The EU shared the view of the Liaison
Officer a.i. that if the official position of the Convention No. 29
Implementation Committee remained that the allegations were
unfounded, this would inevitably cast doubt on the credibility of the
Committee and its work.

The European Union was concerned and deeply disappointed
that the authorities of Burma/Myanmar, despite previous assuran-
ces, had not released Daw Aung San Suu Kyi, or her deputy, U Tin
Oo, and had not allowed the National League for Democracy
(NLD) to reopen their offices. The EU regretted this failure by the
authorities of Burma/Myanmar to create the conditions which
would have allowed the NLD to take part in the National Conven-
tion. They were further concerned at the restrictions placed on par-
ticipants in the National Convention. She regretted that this oppor-
tunity to begin a real process of national reconciliation and a
peaceful transition to democracy had not been taken by the Burme-
se authorities. They were also concerned that the UN Special Rap-
porteur on Human Rights in Burma/Myanmar had not been able to
gain entry. The EU reiterated its commitment to democratic change
in Burma/Myanmar as well as ongoing humanitarian assistance to
the people of Burma/Myanmar and remained committed to wor-
king with its Asian and other partners to that end.

The Government member of the United States stated that her
Government had carefully studied the documentation prepared for
the Committee on developments concerning the question of
Burma’s observance of Convention No. 29 on forced labour. She
had also listened with great interest to the presentation made this
morning by the Government of Burma. The inevitable conclusion
was that forced labour continued in Burma. The Committee of
Experts, in its current report, found that “while there may have
been some decrease in forced labour since the report of the Com-
mission of Inquiry in 1998, in particular for civil infrastructure
work, forced labour continues to be exacted in many parts of the
country”. The ILO Liaison Officer a.i. provided additional credible
evidence of the ongoing use of forced labour and the forced recruit-
ment of children into the armed forces. Some Burmese individuals
had demonstrated remarkable courage by contacting the ILO
Liaison Office to report incidents of forced labour. Two individuals
even filed a complaint in a Burmese Court under section 374 of the
Burmese Penal Code – the first time this had happened. Still, the
Burmese people lived in a climate of fear. Her Government was
appalled to learn in March that three people were sentenced to
death for contacting the ILO. The Governing Body was assured by
the Burmese authorities that the cases would be reviewed. But the
recent decision of the Supreme Court was merely to reduce the sen-
tences. This was unacceptable. No one should be punished, and no
one should fear punishment, for contacting the ILO. She urged the
Burmese authorities to guarantee that the Supreme Court would
review these cases, and that the three persons would have access to
effective legal assistance in preparing their appeals. To do other-
wise, as the Governing Body previously noted, would undermine
the credibility and prospects for future cooperation. She agreed
with the conclusion of the Officers of the Governing Body that the
latest developments in the situation in Burma were not sufficiently
convincing to proceed with the implementation of the Plan of
Action. Indeed, she urged the ILO to defer signing the Plan of
Action until the prospects for successful implementation had
improved sufficiently. If the situation did not improve significantly –
and soon – the November session of the Governing Body would
need to consider reactivating measures under article 33 of the ILO
Constitution. It was now almost 50 years since Burma committed
“to suppress the use of forced or compulsory labour in all its forms”
under the Forced Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29). The Burmese
authorities had to live up to their obligations and end this intolera-
ble practice. Concrete actions that demonstrated resolve to imple-
ment the Commission of Inquiry’s three recommendations were the
only way in which the Plan of Action could go forward.

The Government member of Australia, speaking also on behalf
of the Government of Canada, said that both countries’ positions
on forced labour in Burma were clearly on the record both at the
ILO and in supporting United Nations resolutions on Burma. They
acknowledged the role played by the ILO Liaison Officer a.i. in
Yangon, particularly his efforts to assist the Burmese authorities to
observe ILO Convention No. 29. Canada and Australia strongly
supported the Plan of Action and they were deeply disappointed
that no change at all seemed to have occurred in Burma since the
International Labour Conference last June to eliminate the practi-
ce of forced labour. It was time for Burma to demonstrate its com-
mitment to eliminating forced labour by cooperating fully with the
ILO to implement the Plan of Action. He reaffirmed that, in princi-
ple, Australia and Canada favoured the signature of the Plan of
Action. Canada and Australia remained convinced that urgent



24 Part 3/5

action was required to assist the citizens of Burma experiencing, or
under threat of, forced labour. A basic element of the Plan of
Action was that the people of Burma should be able to cooperate
with the ILO with full confidence and without fear of retribution.
They sought a clear commitment from the Burmese Government
that contact with the ILO would not constitute a criminal offence.
Until they were satisfied that this was the case, reluctantly, they
could not endorse signature and implementation of the Plan of
Action. Although it was not appropriate for this Committee to be-
come involved in broader political debates, it should convey clearly
to the Burmese Government that past events brought into question
its intentions regarding implementation of the Plan of Action.
Australia and Canada had made it clear on many occasions that all
political detainees, including the Secretary-General of the NLD,
Aung San Suu Kyi, should be released immediately and uncondi-
tionally. It was now more than 12 months since Aung San Suu Kyi
was detained in Burma where she remained under house arrest.
There was no justification for her continued detention and her
release was a prerequisite for democratization in Burma as outlined
in the Road Map. He called on Burma to implement the Road Map
to democracy, including drafting a new constitution with broad
participation and open debate. The National Convention which
commenced on 17 May 2004 was not credible because it did not
meet that test. It was up to the Burmese Government to create a
climate to give parties confidence about their participation in the
National Convention.

The Worker member of Malaysia said that no progress had been
noted in this case since it began, despite yearly assurances by the
Government of Myanmar to the contrary. He suggested that the
Government representative travel to Myanmar to see the facts first
hand, or that the military junta attend the next meeting of the Com-
mittee. Reports indicated that forced labour occurred every day. He
pointed to mainly Muslim refugees who had appeared at the Malay-
sian border and who were fleeing forced labour practices. With
regard to paragraph 28 of the Committee of Experts’ comment on
Myanmar and Convention No. 29, he pointed out that there was
evidence that the army recruited persons under the age of 18. Turn-
ing to the topic of freedom of association, he urged the Myanmar
Government to listen to its people and to make freedom of associa-
tion a reality.

An observer representing the International Confederation of
Free Trade Unions (ICFTU), speaking with the authorization of
the Officers of the Committee, stated that he was the Secretary-
General of the Federation of Trade Unions-Burma (FTUB), an in-
dependent workers’ organization, working underground inside
Burma and maintaining offices and training structures in neighbou-
ring countries. As such, the FTUB received information concerning
forced labour and other violations of fundamental workers’ rights
sent by Shwe Man, Min Kyi and Aye Myint, who had remained in
jail in Burma since July 2003 and whose cases were amply described
in the documents presented by the Office to the Committee. He
assured that there was absolutely nothing subversive, revolutionary
nor anti-State about this information. He held and would make
available to the ILO a folder containing the reports sent to him
since 2001 by his imprisoned colleagues. Far from constituting any
grounds for a death sentence, or even one single day in jail, these
documents provided undisputable evidence of forced labour, ex-
ploitation and extortion by Burma’s military authorities.

This other document which he held was the latest forced labour
report sent by the FTUB to the ICFTU less that three weeks ago,
covering a period from September 2003 to April 2004. It contained
details of at least 3,000 villagers forced to work on road construc-
tion, to deliver food to the army, to keep guard, to build military
barracks, to provide building materials, to dig channels, to provide
boats, trucks, bullocks and even elephants, to plough fields for the
army or to pay cash in exchange for labour they could not perform.
In Tan-tabin township, last December, Tactical Commander Khin
Soe ordered 254 villagers from Baw-gali to clear undergrowth and
landmines along the road. In Lashee township, in Sagaing Division,
over 900 households had to provide labourers to construct a road
between 18 and 24 April 2004. They had to crush gravel, chop down
trees, remove heavy rocks and construct a bridge. The FTUB’s
report was supported by 17 forced labour orders, all of which were
identical in content and shape to the thousands of orders which they
had supplied over the years to the ILO and which had been found
by the Committee of Experts to be authentic. They were issued in
Sagaing Division, in Pegu Division, in Karen State and in many
other places; they contained dates, locations, battalion numbers,
names and rank of army officers and descriptions of civilian autho-
rities.

The continuation of forced labour in Arakan State was con-
firmed by Forum Asia, a human rights NGO based in Bangkok, and
whose reports on Burma were well known to the ILO. Its latest re-
port, dated 1 June, gave details of forced labour on a road construc-
tion project to link South Maungdaw with Rathedaung township.

While the work initially started with the use of an army bulldozer, it
stopped for a few months when the bulldozer reached a rocky hill in
the Manyu mountain range. It resumed in March this year with for-
ced labourers taken from five village tracts in the area. Two forced
labourers had already died on this road project, in March and in
April, when they were hit by rocks falling from the cliffs. This clear-
ly demonstrated not only that the army still very much used forced
labour, but also that it did so on major infrastructure projects, con-
trary to assurances given by the junta to the international commu-
nity. It should be noted, however, that forced labour had stopped in
the area for a while in 2002 and 2003, but resumed when an army
battalion was deployed in the area. In other words, forced labour
was still very much imposed at will by the army, according to the
whims and decisions of local commanders over which central
authorities seemed unwilling or unable to impose effective control.

The FTUB, the workers and the people of Burma were grateful
to the ILO for its efforts on the ground to eliminate forced labour.
They were encouraged by the opening of the Rangoon Office, and
thought that at least two new ILO offices should be opened, one in
Upper Burma, and one in southern Burma for all people of rural
areas to have access to the ILO. They were very concerned, how-
ever, by the fact that, over the last few weeks, many people wanting
to report cases of forced labour to the ILO had been turned away
by security officials from the Rangoon hotel where the office was
located. He called for the assurances made by the authorities that
contact with the ILO was not a crime to be announced publicly, in-
cluding in ethnic languages and by all technical means used in this
regard, such as radio and television. The same assurances should be
given as concerned the right of Burmese workers to contact inde-
pendent trade union organizations, including the FTUB. These re-
quirements, as well as the need for the immediate and unconditio-
nal release of the detainees sentenced last November on charges of
high treason, were the minimum prerequisites for further ILO in-
itiative or action in the country, such as the implementation of the
Plan of Action. Failing genuine and measurable progress, the ILO
should implement the actions and measures foreseen by the 2000
resolution adopted by the International Labour Conference under
article 33 of the Constitution.

The Worker member of the Netherlands stated that he had two
observations to make in order to review certain points that he had
made last year during the special sitting on Myanmar. The first
point concerned the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterpri-
ses as an instrument to help governments, employers and trade
unions to make a contribution to the elimination of forced labour.
He considered that in the past year, this instrument, which was not
binding, had lost a great deal of its potential as a consequence of a
decision by the OECD member States to limit the scope of its appli-
cation to direct investments and to exceptional cases, to be decided
on an ad hoc basis, dealing with investment related trade. Govern-
ments had taken this decision while complaint procedures against
companies with economic activities in Burma other than direct in-
vestment, for instance, travel agencies, were well under way in the
Netherlands, and had been considered as receivable by the Natio-
nal Contact Point. Earlier this year, the Government had told the
travel agencies that it would prefer them to discontinue organizing
trips to Burma and that it would take certain measures vis-à-vis
their customers if they would choose to ignore the Government’s
policy of discouraging business with Burma, which gave the trade
unions at least some satisfaction. Quite a few travel agencies had
meanwhile indeed stopped their activities in Burma as a result of
the campaign by NGOs and trade unions, but some continued. In
addition to this, the trade unions had been successful in one case
addressed under the OECD Guidelines in their efforts to change
the behaviour of a major Dutch investor in Burma, namely, the
dredging, shipbuilding and engineering company IHC CALAND,
which did business in Burma jointly with Premier Oil Inc., and since
September of last year with its successor in the joint venture, Petro-
nas of Malaysia. After two years of discussions, the Dutch company
had decided to change its policies, pledged not to engage in further
investments (while maintaining to serve their contractual obliga-
tions in the earlier concluded joint ventures), and expressed con-
cern about forced labour in that country. At the request of the
Dutch trade union confederations FNV and CNV, the company in
question had also addressed Petronas Malaysia, urging it to respect
the OECD guidelines and rules on forced labour, something which
the Malaysian company had recently promised to do.

The speaker continued with his second point which concerned
the follow-up to the 2000 resolution on Myanmar under article 33 of
the ILO Constitution. He recalled that last year he had pleaded for
a new reporting round on the implementation of the resolution
which would have given a picture of the way in which the ILO con-
stituents indeed had reviewed their relations with Burma. In fact,
the Committee did not have any information in this respect as the
first reporting round had been carried out just a few months after
the adoption of the resolution and the time span covered was so



24 Part 3/6

short that one could not have realistically expected that policies of
Government, employers and trade unions had, by then, already
changed. By now, however, the Committee should be able to exa-
mine the impact that the resolution had had in practice in terms of
compliance by those who had adopted it. He wondered whether the
phrase “reactivating the resolution” meant that there was a tacit
understanding that nobody should for the time being implement it
and that the ILO should be silent about it. If that was the case, then
he found it disappointing that in a field where the ILO had a strong
and well-deserved reputation, i.e. careful monitoring of policy im-
plementation, it should have acted with such lack of transparency
and in such a hesitant manner. He therefore repeated his strong
plea for a follow-up of the resolution in terms of regular reporting
on its application in practice by the tripartite constituents of the
Organization.

The Worker member of Japan, speaking on behalf of the Japa-
nese Trade Union Confederation-RENGO, observed that in spite
of the promises made by the Government of Burma, forced labour
was still exacted widely in Burma as the Committee of Experts
pointed out in its report. Noting the large efforts that the ILO had
made to eliminate forced labour in Burma, he expressed the hope
that the Government would take the necessary steps to make it pos-
sible for the joint Plan of Action to be implemented as soon as pos-
sible. He recalled that the 2000 resolution on Myanmar, adopted
under article 33 of the ILO Constitution, called upon ILO member
States to revise their relations with the Government of Burma and
asked all parties not to give any advantage to the Government of
Burma. He expressed the view that this resolution would be effecti-
ve in practice if all member States could get together to put pressure
on Burma, while recognizing that, at the same time, the internatio-
nal community should give the necessary assistance to the country
to eradicate forced labour. In this respect, he regretted to observe
that a few countries and some multinational companies supported
financially and politically the Government of Burma. Although he
did not deny that international investment could open societies and
bring democratic changes, he emphasized that this was not the case
in Burma. For instance, domestic law required that foreign direct
investment (FDI) be carried out through joint ventures with the
military regime, so that fees and benefits from investment went
straight to the generals. He noted that according to the Union of
Myanmar Economic Holding Annual Report 1990-2002, which was
fully owned by the Burmese military regime, FDI had been growing
significantly, and that most top investors in Burma were ASEAN
countries such as Singapore, Thailand, Malaysia and Indonesia.
One-third of total FDI was for the oil and gas sectors. Major coun-
tries with FDI in Burma from 1990 to 2002 were Singapore, the
United Kingdom, Thailand, Malaysia, France and Japan. The lead-
ing companies in the oil and gas sectors were: (1) the Daewoo Cor-
poration from Korea; (2) TotalFinaElf; (3) Uncoal from the United
States; (4) Petroleum Inc. from Canada; and (5) TG World Energy
Ltd. from Canada. Most importantly, investment was increasing
rapidly even after the adoption of the ILO resolution in 2000. There
was no doubt that this kind of support helped the military regime to
continue to survive and oppress the people of Burma and ultima-
tely led to having forced labour in Burma. In conclusion, he urged
the representatives of the governments and the employers of these
countries to stop giving any advantage to the military regime, as this
was the shortest and most effective way to stop forced labour in
Burma.

The Worker member of Italy observed that despite the promises
made by the Burmese military regime in past years, the situation
concerning the widespread violations of the Convention was not
really improving and it was now urgent to assess the consistency of
the Government. Although some measures had been taken, they
were rather superficial, and did not really address the heart of the
problem. The recent high treason cases before the Supreme Court
concerning nine persons sadly provided support for this dark as-
sessment. While after the Governing Body session of March the
death penalty had been commuted by the Supreme Court, all per-
sons convicted of high treason for having merely contacted a trade
union remained in prison and should be immediately released while
their criminal penalties, including the euphemistic penalty of “rigo-
rous labour”, should be cancelled as a prerequisite to any other ac-
tion. The speaker further observed that the main points identified
by the Commission of Inquiry had not been implemented. For ins-
tance, the Village Act and the Towns Act had not been amended,
although Order No. 1/99 and its supplementing Order had been
adopted and could be used as a legal basis to eliminate forced la-
bour under the condition of being strictly applied. Concrete instruc-
tions to stop forced labour as requested by the Committee of
Experts for a number of years had not been issued and nothing jus-
tified this delay on the part of the Government. The only point whe-
re admittedly some measures had been taken concerned the publi-
city given to the Orders even though its efficiency was close to
nothing. She emphasized that only if people were aware that forced

labour was a crime would they have the courage to resist, and that
extensive publicity measures should target the population, the civi-
lian authorities and the military. However, no publicity measures
seemed to have been taken yet with regard to the military, while the
Convention No. 29 Implementation Committee had not reached
the civilian authorities in all 16 states and divisions and a huge
amount of people in Burma had never heard about the Orders.

The speaker also emphasized the fundamental urgency of shif-
ting the nowadays huge budget allocated for the army and weapons
to the elimination of forced labour and the promotion of fair social
conditions. As regards the monitoring mechanism, she noted that
the dialogue between the Convention No. 29 Implementation Com-
mittee and the ILO Liaison Officer should be used so as to bring
more rapid and concrete results, for instance, by establishing after
each meeting a list of the tasks undertaken and the persons respon-
sible for their implementation, so that developments could be
better assessed by the Governing Body. In addition to this, she con-
sidered that the investigating methods of the Implementation Com-
mittee were clearly not appropriate and expressed serious concern
at the fact that all the allegations of forced labour transmitted by
the ILO Liaison Officer for investigation had been either found
baseless or not followed by an investigation. The Government nee-
ded to understand that the rule of law required not only the esta-
blishment of machinery but guarantees of fair, transparent and ef-
fective procedures, which was far from the case. As for the issue of
enforcement, she recalled that, although the Commission of Inqui-
ry had urged the Government to take the necessary steps to ensure
that the penalties which might be imposed under section 374 of the
Penal Code for the exaction of forced labour be strictly enforced, to
date no sanction had ever been imposed and no complaint had ever
been filed, except for the two recently reported cases by the ILO
Liaison Officer. This was not an indication that there was no forced
labour, but rather evidence that the machinery did not have the
confidence of the victims. She found it encouraging, however, that
the presence of the ILO Liaison Officer somewhat compensated for
this serious defect, since he had reported that he had received de-
tailed allegations from victims of forced labour. In this regard, she
noted that the situation concerning the interim nature of the
Liaison Officer should be overcome by creating, even in the absen-
ce of the Plan of Action, a Liaison Office strong in terms of human
resources and means, headed in such a way as to separate, on the
one hand, the political relations with the national authorities and,
on the other hand, the practical work to be carried out in the field,
the follow-up action and the evaluation. She concluded by sugges-
ting that between now and November the structure of the ILO
Liaison Office be enlarged in the field, starting with Mandalay and
the southern town of Moulmein.

The Government member of New Zealand recalled that her
Government had repeatedly called on the Government of Myan-
mar to set in place the conditions through which the abhorrent
practice of forced labour could be eliminated from the country and
reaffirmed her Government’s strong support for the joint Plan of
Action which offered a worthy path forward. She recalled that last
year, this special sitting had expressed its grave concern at develop-
ments in Myanmar that stood in the way of the implementation of
the Plan of Action and that over the past year the Governing Body
had twice echoed these concerns, citing further worrying cases that
ran counter to the objectives of the Plan of Action. She expressed
her Government’s appreciation at some action that had been taken
to address in part some specific cases, but also conveyed her
Government’s dismay at the few, if any, signs of progress or political
will to take concrete actions so as to create the conditions under
which the Plan of Action could be implemented. She emphasized
that her Government remained deeply concerned at the situation in
Myanmar, including the continued detention of political prisoners,
restrictions of the right to freedom of opinion and expression and
freedom of association, and that this deplorable practice had conti-
nued far too long. She concluded by saying that there were still
numerous concrete measures that could be taken by the Govern-
ment of Myanmar even outside the Plan of Action in order to re-
move these practices, and that higher priority should be accorded to
making substantive progress in this respect.

The Government member of Sri Lanka welcomed the efforts
made by the Government of Myanmar in cooperation with the ILO
towards the elimination of forced labour. The Myanmar authorities
had revised and commuted the sentences passed on citizens to ligh-
ter sentences in response to the views and concerns expressed by
the ILO Governing Body. He encouraged Myanmar and the ILO to
continue to work together with a view to a final resolution of this
issue and the removal of measures taken against Myanmar by the
International Labour Conference.

The Worker member of Burundi addressed two forms of forced
labour still practised in Burma: forced recruitment of children into
the army and forced use of workers as “human minesweepers”. He
illustrated these widespread practices with two examples: first, on



24 Part 3/7

6 May 2004 a young boy of 16 years old named Wai Zim was arres-
ted near his family dwelling in the borough of Hlaing Thaya. He
was a young deserter from the light infantry battalion No. 215. He
was recruited by force in December 2003, at the age of 13, and his
name had been changed by the army to make it more difficult for
his parents to find him. There was a double irony in his arrest for
desertion last month. On the one hand, his arrest order indicated
that he had to be arrested with a view to be officially dismissed from
the army. On the other hand, his arrest order was signed by Lieute-
nant-General Tayn Sayn, who was also a Secretary of the Govern-
mental Committee for Prevention of Use of Children Soldiers. The
boy, Wai Zim, was one of 70,000 child soldiers actually used by force
by the Burmese army. Second, the use of “human minesweepers”
by the Burmese army was a practice which was well known to the
ILO and this Committee. It was still very widely used at present.
Thus, during the military offensive against the rebels of the State of
Karen in October 2003, at least 300 persons were forced to work as
porters and “human minesweepers”. At least three of them died,
torn into pieces by mines on which they put their feet. In conclu-
sion, the speaker hoped that the Committee would consider it to be
its duty to severely condemn these disgusting practices of the
Burmese army.

The Employer member of India observed that the issue of Myan-
mar continued to be in the spotlight despite the time that had elapsed
since the report of the Commission of Inquiry and the historic invoca-
tion of article 33 of the ILO Constitution. He emphasized that the
purpose of this Committee should be not only to punish any guilty
parties but also to ensure that ILO action became effective and yiel-
ded definitive results. He therefore had a few suggestions to make
on how to improve ILO effectiveness in this respect. First, the joint
Plan of Action should be made unconditional and should not de-
pend on meeting prior conditions for its effective implementation.
This would lead to a vicious circle whereby the situation would not
improve precisely because the Plan of Action had not gone ahead.
Second, technical cooperation programmes should be multiplied so
that awareness could be raised in the country, especially through
massive education programmes. Third, although the supervision
and monitoring of the situation should continue, this Committee
should not hold a special sitting on this case every year, but rather
every two or three years after the ILO took action in the country
and the situation had drastically improved.

The Government member of India stated that his delegation had
carefully noted the information provided by the Office, particularly
on the events that had taken place since the question of the obser-
vance by Myanmar of Convention No. 29 had been examined by
the Governing Body in March this year, when positive develop-
ments had been noted and the Myanmar authorities had demons-
trated an openness to cooperate. The Government member consi-
dered that the initialling of the joint Plan of Action in May last year
was an important step which marked a new beginning in the process
of cooperation between the ILO and the Myanmar authorities. He
urged both sides to move forward towards implementing this Plan
of Action, and noted with satisfaction that the two parties had been
holding consultations on steps that needed to be taken towards its
implementation, in particular the fact that the ILO Liaison Officer
had been able to travel to several areas as he wished without any
restriction or escort from 10 to 15 May, and had also been able to
meet freely with a range of persons. He suggested that such de-
velopments needed to be viewed positively by the Committee as
they conveyed the desire of both the ILO and the Government of
Myanmar to improve the situation. He informed the Committee of
his Government’s view that Myanmar should be provided with ade-
quate assistance to bring about the necessary changes without lin-
king it to the internal political process in the country. Steps that had
the potential of derailing this process had to be avoided.

The Government member of Japan emphasized the importance
attached by his Government to the early and effective elimination
of forced labour in Myanmar. He noted that this should be achieved
by appropriate measures taken by the Government of Myanmar in
line with the recommendations of the Commission of Inquiry, and
expressed the hope that steady progress would be made towards
this end through dialogue and cooperation between the ILO and
Myanmar. He considered that the key to the implementation of the
joint Plan of Action was to promote steady implementation of the
facilitator activities and pilot projects, through which confidence
between the ILO and the Government of Myanmar would be
enhanced and further positive measures by Myanmar encouraged.
Finally, he expressed the hope that progress would be made on
various questions surrounding this issue.

The Government member of China stated that he had carefully
listened to the opinions expressed from all sides during the discus-
sion and expressed the hope that all of them would be put on
record. He observed that Myanmar had been making efforts to
improve the application of the Convention and expressed the hope
that further cooperation and dialogue between the Government of

Myanmar and the ILO would facilitate a rapid implementation of
the joint Plan of Action.

The Government member of Bangladesh affirmed that forced
labour anywhere and in any form should be eradicated and that no
effort should be spared towards this objective. He expressed his
appreciation to the ILO Director-General for the continuing coo-
peration between the ILO and Myanmar. He also expressed his ap-
preciation for the work of the ILO Liaison Officer. He emphasized
that the implementation of the joint Plan of Action was of critical
importance and therefore urged both sides to make sincere efforts
to this end. In this context, he called upon the Myanmar Govern-
ment to extend the fullest possible cooperation to the ILO and in-
vited the Office to remain constructively engaged with the
Myanmar Government for an early resolution of this issue.

The Government member of Pakistan thanked the Government
representative of Myanmar for the information he had provided on
measures taken to address the issue of forced labour in his country.
He retained in particular from this information that, for the first
time in the country, the judiciary had reviewed and commuted sen-
tences in response to the views and concerns expressed by an inter-
national organization. Thus, as promised during the last meeting of
the Governing Body, the Appeals Court had reviewed the cases of
nine defendants in its judgement of 12 May 2004. The Government
member welcomed this development and considered that it should
be appreciated. Moreover, he expressed satisfaction at the fact that
the ILO Liaison Officer had been allowed to travel in the country
and access all defendants. He finally called for providing further
technical assistance to the Government of Myanmar in response to
these welcome developments.

The Government representative of Myanmar stated that he
would respond briefly to the points raised during the discussion.
With regard to questions raised by a few members about the Natio-
nal Convention, he explained that Myanmar was a country in tran-
sition, striving to establish a modern, developed and democratic
State. With this vision, the Prime Minister, General Khin Nyunt,
had proclaimed on 30 August 2003 a seven-step Road Map which
had been welcomed by countries in the region and beyond. The
ninth ASEAN Summit and the seventh ASEAN+3 Summit, held in
Bali in October 2003, had welcomed the Road Map as a pragmatic
approach and an important programme. The first step of the Road
Map, i.e. the reconvening of the National Convention, was being
implemented. The National Convention was currently in session.
On 20 May 2004, the National Convention had provided clarifica-
tions and conducted deliberations on the basic principles for the
social sector, including the rights of workers. The deliberations also
dealt with the basic principle of forming workers’ organizations, a
point to be discussed later on by this Committee.

With regard to questions raised about the criminal procedure
and the legal proceedings in respect of three individuals whose
conviction for high treason had an ILO dimension, he wished to
emphasize that Myanmar had a very comprehensive and elaborate
legal system and criminal procedural code. The Myanmar Penal
Code, the Myanmar Criminal Procedure Code, the Evidence Act
and the Myanmar Civil Procedure Code had been drawn up during
the colonial years. Investigations, seizures and collection of eviden-
ce, legal proceedings and appeal procedures were carried out syste-
matically in accordance with the aforementioned laws. Out of a
total of nine individuals convicted of high treason in this case, five
were found by the court to have been involved in criminal acts and
four were found to be guilty of abetting the criminals. Their right to
second appeal had already been explained during his first interven-
tion.

With regard to the amendment of the Village Act and the Towns
Act, he informed the Committee that his Government had been
exploring ways and means to modify certain of their provisions and
had consulted extensively with various parties in this respect. He
added that his Government had promulgated Order No. 1/99 and
its supplementary Order which had the force of law and, as the
Committee of Experts had recognized, could provide a statutory
basis for implementing Convention No. 29. This showed that the
Government had taken the necessary steps to establish a sound sta-
tutory basis for the elimination of forced labour. He added with
regard to comments made about the Penal Code that, as he had
already mentioned earlier on, for the first time legal proceedings
were under way based on article 374 of the Penal Code and that
necessary action would be taken against those found guilty of vio-
lating the law. The Government representative protested against
the abuse of the forum of the Standards Committee by Mr. Maung
Maung and recalled that he had already delivered a letter concer-
ning this matter to the Chairperson the previous day.

With regard to comments made by some members to the effect
that progress in Myanmar’s implementation measures and coopera-
tion with the ILO was rather slow, he repeated that, in his view,
steps taken by the Myanmar authorities, particularly in the past few
months, had been at the very least prompt, timely and transparent.



24 Part 3/8

He added that the Government was doing its utmost to advance the
process of cooperation with the ILO in its endeavours to implement
the provisions of Convention No. 29. The Myanmar authorities
were ahead of the formal signing and entry into force of the joint
Plan of Action, as far as its implementation was concerned, by ha-
ving already started to implement certain of its provisions. Howe-
ver, he emphasized that, given the delicate and sensitive nature of
the issue and constraints, the Government had to adopt a step-by-
step approach. This judicious and prudent approach did not mean
that actions would be necessarily slow, but that progress should be
achieved step by step and systematically. In conclusion, he observed
that the process of dialogue and cooperation between Myanmar
and the ILO had been working very well until now and he assured
the Committee that the Government would continue this process of
dialogue and cooperation.

The Employer members noted that, for the last four years, the
Committee had been holding a serene discussion on a matter which
could give rise to disquiet as it did not concern a minor matter but
rather fundamental human rights. They observed that the Govern-
ment had never denied the existence of forced labour in the country
and had promised steps in numerous discussions on this issue.
However, the effective implementation of these promises depended
in the end on the Government itself. In this year’s discussion, the
Employer members had noted some progress but also some
worrying steps backwards. For instance, the Government represen-
tative’s statement that Order No. 1/99 and its supplementary Order
had force of law could be seen as implying that there was no need
for amending the Village and Towns Acts. Such an assertion would
be very dubious since these Orders were in contradiction with older
laws allowing and, indeed, calling for forced labour, which had to be
repealed in order to clarify the state of the law. They also explained
that the Conference had decided that the Committee would be exa-
mining this case every year in its resolution of 2000 which was
binding upon the Committee. Turning to the conduct of other
governments, the Employer members observed that the sanctions
that had been adopted 16 years ago had not achieved any results
and any adverse effect that they might have caused had been passed
on to the people of Myanmar. It seemed that the governments did
not have a clear plan as to what should be done in this respect. The
Employer members therefore considered that the ILO should con-
tinue alone, in the absence of a strategic partner. They emphasized
that the ILO had achieved remarkable results in this case but more
needed to be done. The Plan of Action was a great achievement and
its implementation was necessary. The Employer members ex-
pressed the hope that the Myanmar authorities would gain aware-
ness of the fact that the abolition of forced labour would be to the
benefit of all and, in particular, the country and its people.

The Worker members stated that they did not accept the criti-
cism directed by the Government representative of Myanmar at
Mr. Maung Maung’s intervention. The debate confirmed the initial
observations regarding the gravity of the situation in Myanmar and
the continued non-observance by that Government of the recom-
mendations of the Commission of Inquiry as well as the Committee
of Experts. The practice of forced labour imposed on the popula-
tion including in the domains of road construction, the use of child
soldiers and civilians for mine detection, was extremely poignant
and worrying. The recommendations of the Commission of Inquiry
had, in the final analysis, to be respected and adhered to. The
Burma Government had to: revise the laws covering certain crimes;
define what it meant by “forced labour”; disseminate such a defini-
tion to the civil and military authorities as well as to the population
at large; provide in its budgetary line the necessary funding al-
lowing for the execution of needed work by means other than
forced labour. Furthermore, the Convention No. 29. Implementa-
tion Committee established by the Government had to report on
how it examined complaints presented. The Liaison Officer had
also to be able to follow on the examination of complaints, submit
cases to tribunals and propose solutions. These competencies were
initially attributed to the Facilitator in the Action Plan established
in the preceding year. However, the implementation of the afore-
mentioned Plan of Action depended largely on the evolution of the
political and legal situation in the country. In view of the above, the
Worker members requested the Government to make an official
declaration confirming that contact with the ILO or the possession
of information provided by the ILO did not constitute a criminal
offence. The Government was also requested to confirm that con-
tact with third parties on matters of concern to the ILO would not
be subject to punishment. Such a declaration by the Government
was to be published and disseminated by appropriate means. The
Worker members equally requested that the Supreme Court of
Myanmar issue a judgement in due form on the status of the nine

condemned persons and to immediately liberate the workers who
were sentenced following their contact with the ILO and trade
unions. The Government was also to clarify the notion of “transpor-
tation for life”.

Finally, in order to create a political climate conducive to the
implementation of the Plan of Action, the Government had to, as a
priority, release Miss Aung San Suu Kyi; re-open the offices of the
National League for Democracy and annul all the restrictions im-
posed on the National Convention participants. If the Government
was non-responsive to the Worker members’ requests before No-
vember, they intended to seize the Governing Body in order for the
latter to stress the call previously made to member States on the
basis of article 33 of the ILO Constitution.

After taking note of the information provided by the Govern-
ment representative, the Committee noted with deep concern the
observation of the Committee of Experts which examined the
measures taken by the Government to give effect to the recommen-
dations of the Commission of Inquiry. The Committee of Experts
had noted in its observation that the three main recommendations
of the Commission of Inquiry were still to be implemented. In spite
of the Government’s assurances of its good intentions, the measures
taken had not brought about significant progress in actual practice
and forced labour continued to be exacted in many parts of the
country. No person responsible for imposing forced labour had ever
been prosecuted or sentenced under the relevant provision of the
Penal Code. In view of the slowness of progress, the Committee of
Experts had expressed the hope that the process of dialogue and
cooperation which had developed between the ILO and the Go-
vernment could offer a real chance of bringing about more rapid
and concrete progress, in particular through the implementation of
the Plan of Action.

In this regard the Committee had to note its grave concern at the
fact that three persons had been convicted of high treason, includ-
ing on grounds of contacts with the ILO. The Committee was fur-
ther deeply concerned that although on appeal the Supreme Court
had commuted the death sentences, it had failed to bring clarity on
this crucial point, despite the earlier assurances of the Government
that contacts with the ILO could not be considered illegal in Myan-
mar. The Committee also expressed its concern at the freedom of
association issues raised by the Supreme Court’s findings. It joined
the Governing Body in endorsing the recommendations put
forward by the informal facilitator as regards the grounds for con-
victing the three persons and the need to release them. It agreed
that this situation clearly was not one in which the Plan of Action
could be credibly implemented.

The Committee had also taken note of the information provided
by the Liaison Officer ad interim on his activities. It noted with ap-
preciation the continued cooperation extended to the Liaison Offi-
cer by the Government and the freedom of movement that he en-
joyed. It considered the fact that individuals were lodging
complaints concerning forced labour with the Liaison Officer in in-
creasing numbers, demonstrating the usefulness of the ILO presen-
ce. However, the Committee had to note with concern that the re-
sponse to the individual allegations so far raised was inadequate
and that to date not a single one of these allegations had been veri-
fied by the authorities nor had anyone so far been prosecuted for
illegally imposing forced labour. This cast serious doubt on the wil-
lingness of the authorities to take the concrete steps necessary to
ensure the elimination of forced labour in practice.

In that respect, reference was made to the fact that certain forms
of forced labour referred to by the Commission of Inquiry such as
work on infrastructure projects, using forced labour, forced recruit-
ment of children and even the use of persons as minesweepers were
still in use. The dissemination of information in relevant languages
also left much to be desired.

The Committee took due note of the assurances provided by the
Government representative that a further review by the Supreme
Court would take place which would, inter alia, clarify the question
of the legality of contacts with the ILO. The Committee was of the
opinion that the Government now had a final opportunity to give
practical effect to these assurances and to the recommendations of
the informal facilitator. It noted that the Governing Body at its next
session should be ready to draw the appropriate conclusions, in-
cluding reactivation and review of the measures and action taken
including those regarding foreign direct investment, called for in
the resolution of the International Labour Conference of 2000,
unless there was a clear change in the situation in the meantime.

Finally, the Committee recalled that the Government would
have to supply a detailed report for examination by the Committee
of Experts at its next session on all the steps taken to ensure com-
pliance with the Convention in law and in practice.



24 Part 3/9

B. OBSERVATION OF THE COMMITTEE OF EXPERTS ON THE APPLICATION
OF CONVENTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE OBSERVANCE OF THE FORCED

LABOUR CONVENTION, 1930 (No. 29) BY MYANMAR

Myanmar (ratification: 1955)

1. Since 1999, the Committee has examined the measures taken
by the Government in giving effect to the recommendations of the
Commission of Inquiry appointed by the Governing Body to exa-
mine the observance by Myanmar of the Convention. In 1999 and
2000, two orders were issued to render the requisition of forced la-
bour illegal and subject to penal sanction. Since then the ILO has
been involved in a number of activities to follow up the recommen-
dation of the Commission of Inquiry. Between May 2000 and
February 2002, several technical cooperation missions were under-
taken in Myanmar by a representative of the Director General. In
September-October 2001, a High-Level Team visited Myanmar to
conduct an assessment of the measures taken by the Government in
regard to the application of the Convention. In March 2002, as re-
commended by the HLT, the Government agreed to the appoint-
ment of an ILO Liaison Officer in Myanmar in order to assist the
Government to ensure the prompt and effective elimination of for-
ced labour. A Liaison Officer ad interim was appointed in May
2002. Since October 2002 a permanent Liaison Officer has been
functioning, and reports on the activities of the Liaison Officer, in-
cluding her travels in the country and her discussions with the
authorities, are presented at each session of the Governing Body.
On 27 May 2003, the Government and the ILO reached agreement
on a Joint Plan of Action for the Elimination of Forced Labour
Practices in Myanmar.

2. In 2002, in concluding its observation, the Committee noted
that some measures had been taken by the Government to dissemi-
nate the prohibition of forced labour and that discussions were
under way between the ILO and the Government on a plan of
action. The Committee, however, observed that in spite of the indi-
cations and rhetoric of the Government, none of the three recom-
mendations of the Commission of Inquiry – namely that the rele-
vant legislative texts be amended; that in actual practice no more
forced or compulsory labour be imposed by the authorities, in par-
ticular the military; and that the penalties provided for by the Penal
Code for the exaction of forced labour be strictly enforced – had so
far been met.

3. The Committee takes note of the discussions in the Confer-
ence Committee on the Application of Standards in June 2003
(Provisional Record No. 24, Part three). It also notes the statements
made by the representative of the Government in the Governing
Body and at the Conference Committee, as well as the following
reports and information supplied by the Government:
– further progress report concerning the implementation of Con-

vention No. 29, dated 4 February 2003;
– further developments on Convention No. 29, dated 24 March

2003;
– replies to comments made by the Committee of Experts, dated

30 May 2003 (received on 6 June 2003);
– report on the application of Convention No. 29, received on

2 October 2003;
– five letters addressed to the Liaison Officer by representatives

of the Government in the Convention No. 29 Implementation
Committee, including the representative of the Ministry of
Defence, in October and November 2003, replying to questions
raised in the Implementation Committee.

4. The Committee has also taken note of the following informa-
tion:
– the reports on “Developments concerning the question of the

observance by the Government of Myanmar of the Forced
Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29)”, presented to the Gover-
ning Body at its 285th (November 2002), 286th (March 2003)
and 287th (November 2003) Sessions, which include the reports
of the Liaison Officer;

– the discussions and conclusions of the Governing Body on these
reports (GB.288/PV);

– a communication dated 20 November 2003, in which the Inter-
national Confederation of Free Trade Unions (ICFTU) submit-
ted fresh documentation referring to the continuing recourse to
forced labour in Myanmar. A copy of this communication was
transmitted to the Government on 30 November 2003 for such
comments it may wish to present.

5. As in previous years, the Committee will examine the obser-
vance of the Convention by the Government under three main

parts: (i) the amendment of legislation; (ii) the measures taken to
stop the exaction in practice of forced or compulsory labour and
information available on actual practice; and (iii) the enforcement
of penalties which may be imposed under the Penal Code for the
exaction of forced or compulsory labour. The Committee shall then
review the measures taken in regard to the Joint Plan of Action (iv).

I. Amendment of legislation

6. In its report, the Commission of Inquiry had urged the
Government to take the necessary steps to ensure that the Village
Act, 1907, and the Towns Act, 1907, which confer local authorities
wide powers to requisition labour and services in violation of the
Convention, be brought into line with the Convention without fur-
ther delay. In its 2001 observation, the Committee noted that,
although the Village Act and Towns Act still needed to be amen-
ded, an “Order directing not to exercise powers under certain pro-
visions of the Town Act, 1907, and the Village Act, 1907” (Order
No. 1/99), as modified by an “Order Supplementary to Order No. 1/
99” dated 27 October 2000, could provide a statutory basis for ensu-
ring compliance with the Convention in practice, if given bona fide
effect not only by the local authorities empowered to requisition
labour under the Village and Towns Acts, but also by civilian and
military officials entitled to call on the assistance of local authorities
under the Acts.

7. The Committee notes that, as at the end of November 2003,
the amendment of the Village and Towns Acts has still not been
made. Noting the Government’s statement in its reply to the Com-
mittee’s comments dated 30 May 2003 that Order No. 1/99 and its
supplementary order have the force of law and the Towns Act and
the Village Act are no longer referred to, the Committee trusts that
the Government will therefore have no difficulty in repealing the
relevant provisions of these Acts, in order to bring the legislation
fully into conformity with the Convention. Pending this, the Com-
mittee trusts that the Government will make every effort to ensure
that the prohibition on forced labour contained in Order No. 1/99
and its supplementary order is strictly applied and enforced.

II. Measures to stop the exaction in practice of forced
labour and information available on actual practice

A. Measures to stop the exaction in practice of forced
or compulsory labour

8. In its recommendations, the Commission of Inquiry had
stressed that besides amending the legislation, concrete action nee-
ded to be taken immediately to stop the imposition of forced labour
in practice, in particular by the military. In the Commission’s view,
this was all the more important since the powers to impose compul-
sory labour appear to be taken for granted, without any reference
to the Village or Towns Acts. In its previous observations, the Com-
mittee had identified four areas in which action needed to be taken
by the Government in order to achieve this goal: issuing specific
and concrete instructions to the civilian and military authorities;
giving wide publicity to the prohibition of forced labour; making
adequate budgetary provisions for the replacement of forced or
unpaid labour; and monitoring the prohibition of forced labour.

9. Specific and concrete instructions. In its observations in 2001
and 2002, the Committee noted that, in the absence of specific and
concrete instructions to the civilian and military authorities contai-
ning a description of the various forms and manners of exaction of
forced labour, the application of the provisions adopted so far turns
upon the interpretation in practice of the notion of “forced labour”.
This cannot be taken for granted, as shown by the various Burmese
terms used sometimes when labour was exacted from the popula-
tion – including “loh-ah-pay”, “voluntary”, or “donated” labour.

10. In its 2002 observation, the Committee took note of a Direc-
tive issued on 1 November 2000 by Secretary 1 of the State Peace
and Development Council (SPDC) (Letter No. 4/Na ya ka U/Ma
Nya) directing “the State and Divisional Peace and Development
Councils to issue necessary instructions to the relevant District and
Township Peace and Development Councils to strictly abide by the
prohibitions contained in Order No. 1/99) and its supplementary
order”. The Committee notes that the reports of the Government
and the statements made by representatives of the Government
contain many references to “explanations”, “instructions” and
“directives” given at offices of the Peace and Development



24 Part 3/10

Councils at various levels and offices of the General Administra-
tion Department, the Department of Justice and the police forces
and township courts, and to the guidance provided by the Field
Observation Teams during their visits in the country. However, the
Government has supplied no details on the contents of the explana-
tions, instructions, directives or guidance, nor has it provided the
text of any instruction or directive which contains details of the tas-
ks for which the requisition of labour is prohibited or the manner in
which the same tasks are to be performed without resorting to for-
ced labour.

11. In its reply to the Committee’s observation dated 30 May
2003, the Government indicates that the Myanmar Police Force has
issued further directives and explanations with regard to Order
No. 1/99 and its supplementary order to police force personnel in
order that they may be made more aware of their obligations to the
public concerning the “full meaning of the use of forced labour”,
and provides a copy of Letter No. 1002 (3) /202/G4 “to prevent illi-
cit summon on the requisition of forced labour”, dated 27 October
2000 and signed by the Director-General of the Police Force. The
Committee notes that this Letter again draws attention to the con-
tents of Order No. 1/99 and its supplementary order, and indicates
the procedure to be followed by police officers in dealing with com-
plaints on forced labour, without explaining the kind of tasks which
constitute forced labour or how these tasks should be performed.

12. Regarding the defence forces, the Committee notes, from
the written reply given to the Liaison Officer by the representative
of the Ministry of Defence in the Convention No. 29 Implementa-
tion Committee, the reference made to a letter of 2001 of the Office
of the Minister of Defence “instructing that the orders be made
comprehensive to the staff at the lower levels” in its main offices
and directorates, and two letters of 1999 and 2000 and a telegram of
2001 issued by the Office of the Chief of Staff (Army) “to make
personnel to the lowest level will follow orders explicitly”. The
Committee requests the Government to supply copies of these
letters and telegram with its next report.

13. On the basis of the information available to the Committee,
it appears that clear instructions are still required to indicate to all
officials concerned, including members of the armed forces, both
the kinds of practices that constitute forced labour and for which
the requisition of labour is prohibited, and the manner in which the
same tasks are henceforth to be performed. The Committee notes
that in the September 2003 meeting of the Convention No. 29 Im-
plementation Committee, it was pointed out to the Liaison Officer
that there could be differences of opinion over whether certain
practices constituted forced labour and that it was important to take
into account the traditional customs of the country. The Liaison
Officer offered to meet with a small group of the Implementation
Committee to develop common concepts relating to the application
of Convention No. 29 in the Myanmar context, the results of which
could be reflected in a pamphlet for public distribution. The Com-
mittee hopes that with the assistance of the Liaison Officer, the ne-
cessary detailed instructions will be issued without delay, and that
they will, inter alia, cover each of the tasks listed in paragraph 13 of
its 2002 observation.

14. Publicity given to orders. The Committee notes from the in-
formation supplied by the Government that measures continue to
be taken in order to make the prohibition of forced labour contai-
ned in Order No. 1/99 and its supplementary order widely known
by all the authorities concerned and the general public. These
measures include:
– distributing and posting copies of the orders at various adminis-

trative levels throughout the country;
– including information on Convention No. 29 in the monthly bul-

letin of the Ministry of Labour, which is widely circulated;
– preparing a pamphlet on forced labour and Convention No. 29;
– sending Field Observations Teams led by members of the Con-

vention No. 29 Implementation Committee to various parts of
the country, to make the local authorities and the public aware
of the orders; and translating the orders into ethnic languages.

15. The Committee recalls that in its 2001 observation, it refer-
red to an allegation made by the ICFTU to the effect that villagers
had to forcibly buy the “green book” containing the text of the
orders, or were forced to purchase the boards on which the orders
had to be posted. The Committee takes note of the Government’s
reply that according to the General Administration Department
the “green books” were distributed free of charge, at no cost to
anyone.

16. In its communication received in November 2002, the ICF-
TU also alleged that “in certain areas villagers had never heard of
any orders from Rangoon to the effect that forced labour was now
banned, and that many villagers interviewed in Shan State, Karenni
State, Karen State, Pegu Division and Mandalay Division still had
never heard of announcements or proclamations that forced labour

practices should be ended”. The Government has provided no
answer to this allegation.

17. Regarding the translation of the orders into ethnic langua-
ges, the Committee notes that as at the end of November 2003, the
orders had been translated and published in two dialects of the
Kayin language, Kayah, Mon, Shan and Kachin, and copies of these
translations have been communicated to the ILO. It hopes that the
next report of the Government will contain copies of the transla-
tions into the four Chin dialects.

18. The Committee notes the statement contained in the
Liaison Officer’s first report to the November 2003 session of the
Governing Body, to the effect that “there is so far no indication that
the translations have been distributed and displayed in the ethnic
areas”.

19. The Committee expresses the hope that the Government
will continue its efforts to give the widest publicity to the prohibi-
tion of forced labour throughout the country, including in the re-
mote areas where most of the allegations of continuing forced
labour refer to. In particular:
(a) As the measures taken until now appear to be addressed mainly

if not exclusively to the civilian authorities, the Committee re-
quests the Government in its next report to provide information
on the measures taken or envisaged to make the members of
the defence forces at all levels fully aware of the existing orders
and of the sanctions for their violation. The Government is re-
quested to provide copies of the information provided to the
defence forces as well as information about meetings, works-
hops and seminars organized to disseminate the information to
the defence forces.

(b) As the Field Observation Teams of the Convention No. 29 Im-
plementation Committee do not cover all the 16 states and divi-
sions in the country, the Committee hopes that the work of the
Implementation Committee will be extended to cover the who-
le country and that the next report will contain information on
the progress made in this regard.

(c) The Committee hopes that the pamphlet which has been in pre-
paration since last year will be finalized soon, with the advice of
the Liaison Office, and that a copy will be provided with the
next report.

(d) The Committee trusts that measures will be taken to ensure the
distribution and display of the translations in the ethnic areas,
which are those where the prevalence of forced labour practices
appear to be the highest.

20. Budgeting of adequate means. In its recommendations, the
Commission of Inquiry had drawn attention to the need to make
adequate budgetary provisions to hire free wage labour for the
public activities which are today based on forced and unpaid labour.
In its report, the High-Level Team stated that it had received no
information allowing it to conclude that the authorities had indeed
provided for any real substitute for the cost-free forced labour im-
posed to support the military or public works projects. In its two
previous observations, the Committee has pursued the matter and
sought to obtain concrete evidence that adequate budgetary provi-
sions exist to hire voluntary paid labour.

21. In its reply of 30 May 2003, the Government reiterates its
previous statements that there is always a budget allotment for each
and every project, with allocations which include the cost of mate-
rial and labour. This has been the case for each project carried out
by the Department for the Development of Border Areas. In addi-
tion, the Department under the Yangon City Development Com-
mittee, the Ministry of Construction and the Ministry of Home
Affairs have issued instructions “to strictly follow the rules concer-
ning the hiring of labour, forbidding any form of forced labour as
regards the provisions for labour costs”.

22. The Committee takes note of this statement. However, as
the information available on actual practice shows that forced la-
bour continues to be imposed in many parts of the country, in par-
ticular in those areas with a heavy presence of the army, the Com-
mittee can only conclude that the budgetary allocations that may
exist are not adequate to make recourse to forced labour unneces-
sary unless the use of these allocations is not adequately control-
led. In this regard, it draws attention to the Liaison Officer’s com-
ment in her first report to the March 2003 session of the
Governing Body that the dissemination of Order No. 1/99 and its
supplementary order has not been sufficient to have a significant
impact on the practice, as it has not been accompanied by other
measures, such as providing alternative means to those currently
imposing forced labour to carry out the tasks which is their res-
ponsibility to perform. The Committee reiterates the hope that
adequate budgetary provisions will be made for the civilian and
for the military authorities to allow them to carry out their tasks
without using forced labour and that the next report will indicate
the measures taken in this regard.



24 Part 3/11

23. Monitoring machinery. The Committee takes note of the in-
formation supplied by the Government and the reports of the
Liaison Officer on the activities carried out by the Convention
No. 29 Implementation Committee in monitoring the forced labour
situation and making the public aware of the orders prohibiting for-
ced labour. Between December 2002 and November 2003, the
Implementation Committee held three meetings with the Liaison
Officer, in which a number of allegations of forced labour transmit-
ted by the Liaison Officer were discussed. In these meetings, the
newly appointed representative of the Ministry of Defence partici-
pated, which allowed certain issues concerning the use of forced
labour by the army to be discussed. The Field Observation Teams
of the Implementation Committee undertook frequent field trips in
the country, to investigate allegations of forced labour and dissemi-
nate knowledge about the orders and reports on their findings were
made to the Implementation Committee. In addition, the Liaison
Officer received several written communications from the Imple-
mentation Committee, reporting on findings of the Field Observa-
tion Teams on the allegations transmitted by the Liaison Officer.

24. The Committee welcomes the dialogue which has develo-
ped between the Implementation Committee and the Liaison Offi-
cer. It notes however that all the investigations carried out by the
authorities, including the FOTs, on allegations of forced labour
have concluded that these allegations were unfounded. In this re-
gard, it notes that as part of her proposals to the Government on a
Joint Plan of Action, the Liaison Officer had made specific sugges-
tions for a reformed system of inspection, which were not retained
by the Government. The Committee also notes that following a re-
quest by the Liaison Officer, the Government agreed to let her ac-
company Field Observation Team on a field trip to Kachin State, in
order to observe its methods of work. The Liaison Officer’s obser-
vation, as reported in her second report to the November 2003 ses-
sion of the Governing Body, was that “the manner in which the
team conducted its work, while appropriate for information dis-
semination, was not well suited to investigating allegations and that
it would be difficult, if not impossible, to determine the veracity of
allegations in such a manner”. The Committee trusts that the
Government will take steps to develop a fair and more effective
procedure for investigating allegations of forced labour, in particu-
lar those involving the army, and that it will continue its dialogue
with the Liaison Officer in this regard.

B. Information available on actual practice

25. During its visit to Myanmar in October 2001, the High-Level
Team had found that “although the orders prohibiting forced la-
bour had been widely, if unevenly, distributed, the impact on the
practice of forced labour was limited and there had been only a very
moderate positive evolution since the Commission of Inquiry. The
situation remained particularly serious in places with a large milita-
ry presence, especially in border areas”.

26. In its 2001 and 2002 observations, the Committee noted two
communications of the ICFTU which contained a large number of
allegations, many of them referring to the continued use by the mi-
litary authorities of Burma of forced labour on a massive scale. In
support of its claims, the ICFTU enclosed a large number of reports
and other documents, totalling hundreds of pages, which often in-
cluded interviews and precise indications of times, places, military
battalions or companies involved, and the names of the comman-
ders. The Committee had hoped that the Government would exa-
mine the allegations made by the ICFTU and supply detailed infor-
mation on any action taken to prosecute all persons found
responsible for ordering forced labour. The Committee notes that
with the exception of two allegations, which were raised by the
Liaison Officer in the Convention No. 29 Implementation Commit-
tee, the Government has provided no information in reply to the
communications of the ICFTU. On the two allegations, which con-
cerned the death of trade unionist U Saw Mya Than, while forced to
work as a porter for the army, and the use of forced labour by Total-
FinElf to build a highway between Kanbauk and Maung Ma Gan,
the Government’s answers were that in both cases, no forced labour
had been used and the allegations were aimed at tarnishing the ima-
ge of the Government.

27. In her first report presented to the Governing Body in
March 2003, the Liaison Officer stated her impression that “while
there is probably less use of forced labour in central parts of
Myanmar, the situation in areas near the Thai border where there is
continuing insecurity and a heavy presence of the army, as well as in
Northern Rakhine State, is particularly serious and appears to have
changed little (since the HLT mission)”. This impression is reiter-
ated in her first report to the November 2003 session of the Gover-
ning Body, in which she states:

The Liaison Officer continues to receive credible reports of forced
labour from various sources inside and outside the country, and fresh

allegations have come to light during the recent trips to various parts of
the country. The Liaison Officer continues to be concerned by the ques-
tion of forced recruitment into the armed forces, including of children, on
which no detailed response has been received from the authorities. Ano-
ther matter which has come to the attention of the Liaison Officer is the
current widespread and apparently systematic programme of military
training for civilians, affecting very large numbers of people across the
country since May. Trainees include government employees (for exam-
ple, teachers), as well as local villagers and townspeople, who are requi-
red to participate in this training and in some cases also have to cover the
cost of materials (such as bamboo sticks).

28. Regarding the forced recruitment of children into the army,
the Committee has noted the answer provided by the representa-
tive of the Ministry of Defence in the Implementation Committee
and repeated in his letter to the Liaison Officer, that the armed for-
ces only recruit in accordance with the laws and regulations in force
and since the Defence Services Act, 1959, provides that only those
between the ages of 18 and 25 may be recruited voluntarily, there is
no forced recruitment into the armed forces, and no young persons
have been found to be recruited into the armed forces. The Com-
mittee requests the government to provide information on any
investigation that may have been undertaken to ascertain that in
practice no person under 18 is recruited into the armed forces. In
view of the seriousness of the issue, the Committee hopes that the
Government, with the assistance of the ILO, will make every effort
to make a thorough assessment of the extent of this practice and
will take necessary action to put an end to it.

29. Regarding the programmes of compulsory military training,
the Committee notes from the letter of the representative of the
Ministry of Defence to the Liaison Officer that “they are done as
mentioned in the previous Constitutions saying that ... the State
may in a particular part of the country or all over the country con-
duct military trainings”; “every citizen shall in accordance with law:
(a) undergo military training; and (b) undertake military service for
the defence of the State”; and “the basic trainings (are) conducted
so as to protect the State from all forms of destructive elements”.
The Committee observes that the previous Constitutions are no
longer in force; that in any event the obligation that they impose on
citizens to undergo military training or service is “in accordance
with the law”; and that the Defence Services Act, 1959, only pro-
vides for voluntary, and not compulsory, recruitment. It would ap-
pear therefore that the programmes of compulsory military training
have no legal basis and constitute a form of forced or compulsory
labour under the Convention. The Committee hopes that the Go-
vernment will put an end to these programmes and that in its next
report it will indicate the measures taken in this regard.

Current information

30. In a letter dated 19 November 2003, the ICFTU transmits
information on actual practice coming from various sources and
covering many parts of the country (Chin, Kayah, Kayin, Mon,
Rakhine and Shan States and Ayeyarwady, Magway, Sagaing and
Taninthayi Divisions) over the period September 2002 to October
2003. The ICFTU states that this information “ranges from extor-
tion of money and goods in exchange for exemption from forced
labour to violent death during forced portering and serving as
‘human minesweepers’ for the armed forces”. The documents ap-
pended to the ICFTU letter include:
– An August 2003 report by the Karen Human Rights Group con-

taining translations of some 200 orders mostly from the Myan-
mar army to villages, requisitioning labour for various tasks as
well as materials. There are also translations of more than
100 orders summoning village heads to meetings with the army,
at which it is alleged that verbal demands for forced labour were
made.

– Documents from the Federation of Trade Unions of Burma
(FTUB) containing 17 similar orders from the army to villagers
requisitioning labour or materials.

– Three reports from Forum Asia dated 2 December 2002, 29 May
2003 and 31 August 2003 which include numerous allegations of
forced labour in Northern Rakhine State, in particular affecting
the Muslim population.

– Documents from the FTUB containing details of interviews with
73 villagers who allege they were requisitioned for forced labour.
In addition, the documents contain details of interviews with a
number of prisoners who had escaped after allegedly being sent
to work as porters for the army.

– A document dated February 2003 from the Pa’An Agriculture
Workers Union concerning forced labour allegedly requisi-
tioned from 12 villages for a road project in Kayin State.

The Committee requests the Government to examine the alle-
gations of the ICFTU and the documents attached thereto and to



24 Part 3/12

supply detailed information on its investigations and any action ta-
ken thereupon to prosecute persons found responsible for ordering
forced labour.

31. In summary, on the basis of the information at its disposal on
actual practice, the Committee must conclude that while there may
have been some decrease in forced labour since the report of the
Commission of Inquiry in 1998, in particular for civil infrastructure
work, forced labour continues to be exacted in many parts of the
country. The situation is particularly serious in the border areas
which are mostly inhabited by ethnic nationalities and where there
is a heavy presence of the army. This clearly shows that in spite of
the commitment to the elimination of forced labour expressed
repeatedly by the Government the measures taken until now have
not been sufficient to bring about rapid and significant progress, in
particular as concerns the army.

III. Enforcement

32. In its report, the Commission of Inquiry urged the Govern-
ment to take the necessary steps to ensure that the penalties which
may be imposed under section 374 of the Penal Code for the exac-
tion of forced labour or compulsory labour be strictly enforced, in
conformity with Article 25 of the Convention. This, in the Commis-
sion’s view, required thorough investigation, prosecution and ade-
quate punishment of those found guilty.

33. The Committee notes, from the information provided by the
Government, that although the Order supplementing Order No. 1/
99 and the Directive dated 1 November 2000 from the Secretary 1
of the State Peace and Development Council provide for the prose-
cution under section 374 of the Penal Code of persons responsible
for violating the prohibition on forced labour contained in Order
No. 1/99, as of November 2003, no sanction has ever been imposed
under section 374 of the Penal Code. Similarly, no complaint con-
cerning the imposition of forced labour has been received until
now, although procedures exist for such complaints to be filed, inter
alia, at a police station in a court of law or at the Office of the Attor-
ney-General.

34. The Committee is of the opinion that the lack of complaints
and prosecutions under section 374 of the Penal Code cannot be
taken as indicating that there is no forced labour. Rather, it casts
doubt on the credibility of the existing complaint and investigation
mechanism and on the real commitment of the Government to
completely eliminate forced labour.

35. The Committee recalls that in order to overcome the feeling
of fear and the lack of trust in the system of redress which in its view
was the reason for the lack of complaints and prosecutions, the
High-Level Team had suggested the appointment of an ombuds-
man, to whom complaints regarding forced labour could be submit-
ted and who would have a mandate and the necessary means to
conduct direct investigations without fear or favour and with the
required confidence of all parties concerned.

36. The Committee notes with interest that in the Joint Plan of
Action agreed on 27 May 2003 between the Government and the
ILO, the Government accepted the establishment of an indepen-
dent Facilitator to receive complaints of forced labour and assist
victims in obtaining redress under the national legislation. Under
the Formal Understanding on the Facilitator, the Facilitator shall
perform his/her functions in strict confidentiality and have free ac-
cess to the complainant and witnesses and no measures of any kind
shall be taken by the authorities against the complainants and wi-
tnesses. When seized with a prima facie case of subjection to forced
labour, the Facilitator may seek an informal solution with the
authority concerned, or transmit the complaint to the competent
authority to initiate legal proceedings and take necessary action,
and he/she shall be informed of the decisions reached. The Facilita-
tor and his/her assistance and support shall be extended the facili-
ties, assistance, protection and status necessary to carry out their
function effectively and in full independence and impartiality. The
services of the Facilitator will be available in the whole country and
will be tested in the pilot region established in the Plan of Action.

37. The Committee considers that, if applied in good faith, the
Formal Understanding on the Facilitator could be an important
tool in assisting victims of forced labour to make complaints and
obtain redress, and result in the prosecution and punishment of per-
sons responsible for imposing forced labour. As indicated below,
the Committee hopes that the Government will take the necessary
steps to make it possible for the Understanding to be implemented
as soon as possible.

IV. Joint Plan of Action

38. Following the appointment of an ILO Liaison Officer in
Yangon, the Director-General had suggested to the Minister for

Labour the development of a plan of action capable of making a
concrete and verifiable impact towards the complete elimination of
forced labour. The Committee notes with interest that, as a result of
the discussions which took place over the last year between the
Liaison Officer and the authorities in Yangon and between repre-
sentatives of the Director-General and representatives of the
Government in Geneva, a Joint Plan of Action for the Elimination
of Forced Labour Practices in Myanmar was agreed on 27 May
2003. The Plan consists of a plan of action proposed by the Govern-
ment, with a number of work programmes covering, inter alia, dis-
semination of information and awareness-raising programmes on
the prohibition of forced labour, the expansion of animal transpor-
tation as an alternative to the use of porters, and the work of Field
Observation Teams; a Formal Understanding on the Facilitator,
described in paragraph 36 above, and a Formal Understanding on a
pilot region. The pilot region is a region where the prohibition of
forced labour will be strictly enforced and where a number of activi-
ties, including a local road construction project, will be implemen-
ted with the technical assistance and support of the ILO. The desi-
gnated region is the Myeik District, consisting of four townships in
the Tanintharyi Division in the south of the country.

39. The Joint Plan of Action was discussed at the 91st Session of
the International Labour Conference during the special sitting on
Myanmar of the Committee on the Application of Standards
(hereinafter called “Special Sitting”). On this occasion, a Govern-
ment representative stated that the Joint Plan of Action was a
breakthrough, a landmark agreement which was the outcome of a
long process of continuous and intensive negotiations and recalled
his Government’s determination and commitment to resolving the
issue of forced labour and to implement it. The Conference Com-
mittee welcomed the Plan of Action as follows:

The Committee welcomed the fact that the Government and the ILO
has agreed on 27 May 2003 on a Joint Plan of Action for the elimination of
forced labour and expressed its support for this Plan. It also noted with
interest that, on the basis of the suggestion made by the HLT, the Plan
envisaged the designation of an independent Facilitator to assist victims
of forced labour to obtain redress under national legislation. It was noted
that the Facilitator would carry out his function throughout the country.
Under the Plan of Action, the Government had undertaken to strictly
enforce the prohibition on forced labour in the pilot region. While em-
phasizing that the implementation of the Plan of Action was without pre-
judice to the general obligation of the Government to put an end to for-
ced labour in the whole of the country, the Committee felt that this Plan of
Action, if it was applied in good faith, could enable tangible progress to be
made in the elimination of forced labour and could open the way to more
substantial progress. The Committee urged the Government to take all
the measures required for this purpose.

40. At the same time, the Conference Committee noted in the
Special Sitting that its debate was taking place at a moment when
the climate of uncertainty and fear prevailing in the country as a
result of recent events called seriously into question the will and
ability of the authorities to make significant progress in the elimina-
tion of forced labour. The Committee expressed the view that:

... a climate of uncertainty and intimidation did not provide an envi-
ronment in which the Plan of Action, and in particular the facilitator me-
chanism which it established, could be implemented in a credible manner.
The Committee trusted that the Government would take the necessary
measures to bring an end to this situation. The Committee hoped that the
implementation of the Plan of Action would go ahead as soon as the
Director General considered the conditions were met for its effective im-
plementation.

41. The Committee shares the concern of the Conference Com-
mittee that a climate of fear and intimidation is not an environment
where the Joint Plan of Action, and in particular the Understanding
on the Facilitator, can be implemented in a credible manner. Taking
note of the assurances given by the Minister for Labour in his mee-
ting of 14 November 2003 with the Liaison Officer, as well as those
contained in the statement of the representative of the Government
at the November 2003 session of the Governing Body, that the Go-
vernment is firmly committed to the Joint Plan of Action and is rea-
dy to go ahead with its implementation, the Committee trusts that
the Government will shortly take the necessary steps to restore a
climate which will make it possible for the Plan of Action to be im-
plemented in an effective and credible manner.

42. To summarize, in the last three years, the Government, at
the highest levels, has given repeated assurances of its intention to
put an end to the widespread violations of the Convention which
had been noted by the Commission of Inquiry in its report. As no-
ted in the Committee’s observation, a number of steps have been
taken in this direction, in particular, orders have been issued to pro-
hibit the use of forced labour. These orders have been translated
into six ethnic languages and measures have been taken to make
them known to public officials and the general public. A mecha-
nism has been established to promote the observance of the orders
and to disseminate awareness of them. An intensive dialogue has
developed between the ILO and the authorities, which has resulted



24 Part 3/13

in the establishment of a presence in the country in the form of an
ILO Liaison Officer.

43. The Committee is bound to observe that the three main
recommendations of the Commission of Inquiry are still to be
implemented. In spite of the Government’s assurances of its good
intentions, the measures taken until now have not brought about
significant progress in actual practice. Forced labour continues to
be exacted in many parts of the country, mainly by the army. No
person responsible for imposing forced labour has ever been pro-
secuted or sentenced under the relevant provision of the Penal
Code.

44. In view of the slowness of the progress, it could be hoped
that the process of dialogue and cooperation which has developed
between the ILO and the Government can offer a real chance of
bringing about more rapid and concrete results. The Committee

considers that the Joint Plan of Action agreed in May 2003 offers an
opportunity for the Government, with the technical assistance of
the ILO and the financial support of the international community,
to move from procedural steps to substantive progress and to dispel
the doubts that the current reality may cast about the seriousness of
its commitment. The Committee can only express the hope that the
Government will do its utmost to ensure the continuation of this
process of dialogue and cooperation and will take all the necessary
steps in the very near future to make it possible for the Joint Plan of
Action to be implemented.

45. The Committee reminds the Government that in any event
the obligation under the Convention to suppress the use of all forms
of forced or compulsory labour remains its responsibility.

[The Government is asked to supply full particulars to the Con-
ference at its 92nd Session.]



24 Part 3/14



24 Part 3/15



24 Part 3/16



24 Part 3/17



24 Part 3/18



24 Part 3/19



24 Part 3/20



24 Part 3/21



24 Part 3/22



24 Part 3/23



24 Part 3/24



24 Part 3/25



24 Part 3/26



24 Part 3/27



24 Part 3/28



24 Part 3/29



24 Part 3/30



24 Part 3/31



24 Part 3/32



24 Part 3/33



24 Part 3/34



24 Part 3/35



24 Part 3/36



24 Part 3/37



24 Part 3/38



24 Part 3/39



24 Part 3/40



24 Part 3/41



24 Part 3/42



24 Part 3/43



24 Part 3/44



24 Part 3/45



24 Part 3/46



24 Part 3/47



24 Part 3/48



24 Part 3/49



24 Part 3/50



24 Part 3/51



24 Part 3/52



24 Part 3/53



24 Part 3/54



24 Part 3/55



24 Part 3/56



24 Part 3/57



24 Part 3/58



24 Part 3/59



24 Part 3/60



24 Part 3/61



24 Part 3/62



24 Part 3/63



24 Part 3/64



24 Part 3/65



24 Part 3/66



24 Part 3/67



24 Part 3/68



24 Part 3/69



24 Part 3/70



24 Part 3/71



24 Part 3/72

No. 24 – Thursday, 17 June 2004

PRINTED IN SWITZERLAND


